WIMUN NEW TORK 2026



wfuna 🕝

STUDY

First Committee of the General Assembly

Prevention of an Arms Race in Outer Space





Distr.: General 20 September 2024 Original: English

Seventy-ninth session

Item 96 (c) of the provisional agenda*

Prevention of an arms race in outer space: further practical measures for the prevention of an arms race in outer space.

Group of Governmental Experts on Further Practical Measures for the Prevention of an Arms Race in Outer Space

Note by the Secretary-General

The Secretary-General has the honour to transmit herewith the report of the Group of Governmental Experts on Further Practical Measures for the Prevention of an Arms Race in Outer Space. The Group was established gursuant to General Assembly sesolution 77/250.









Report of the Group of Governmental Experts on Further Practical Measures for the Prevention of an Arms Race in Outer Space

Summary

By its resolution 77/250, the General Assembly requested the Secretary-General to establish a United Nations Group of Governmental Experts to consider and make recommendations on substantial elements of an international legality binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, including, inter alia, on the percention of the placement of weapons in outer space, the Group adopted its report by consensus;

The present report reflects the discussions of the Group relating to general

considerations of and key conceptual issues pertaining to substantial elements of such a legally binding instrument. This included discussions on: the evolving nature for efforts for the prevention of an arms race in outer space in all its aspects; the existing normative and legal framework; and approaches to further measures for the prevention of an arms race in outer space. The report also contains a non-exchaustive

set of possible substantial elements that could be taken into account in further measures and appropriate international negotiations, including in a legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space.

The Group concluded that the present report could serve as a reference document for further measures and appropriate international negotiations on an

international legally hinding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, including, internal axia, on the prevention of the placemon of weapons in outer space and that the report could contribute to future work on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, which as in the forthcoming poper. 550 waters group could be considered by the General Assembly. The Group agreed that efforts and approaches to elaborate measures on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, are on the prevention of a marm race in outer space, including on expubilities, activities and behaviours, should continue to take thus account the companion of the contribution was account that the contribution was the described assess where further work could be undertaken by Sales infenses; it as the identified sears where further work could

The Group recommended that the Secretary-General make the present report widely available, that Member States fully examine and consider it and that further consideration of various substantial elements and measures be pursued.



Definition

The Open-ended Working Group on the Prevention of an Arms Race in Outer Space (OEWIG on PAROS) is a United Nations forum established to develop recommendations for created by UN General Assembly resolution 59512, replacing two previous Working Groups Tocused on space threats and practical measures for PAROS. The OEWGS mandate is an arms race in outer space in all its aspects, informed by existing relevant resolutions.

wfuna 🐠

Contents

	Foreword by the Secretary-General	4	
	Letter of transmittal	5	
I.	Introduction	6	
II.	Organizational matters	6	
III.	General considerations and key conceptual issues pertaining to substantial elements of a legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, including, inter alia, on the prevention of placement of weapons in outer space.	7	
	A. Evolving nature of outer space activities, threats and related capabilities	8	
	B. Evolution of United Nations efforts for the prevention of an arms race in outer space in all its aspects	8	
	C. Existing normative and legal framework	9	
	D. Approaches to further measures for the prevention of an arms race in outer space	10	
IV.	Consideration of substantial elements of an international legally binding instrument on the		
	prevention of an arms race in outer space, including, inter alia, on the prevention of the placement of weapons in outer space	11	
	A. General considerations including definitions and verification	11	
	B. Substantial elements on the prevention of an arms race in outer space	13	
V.	Conclusions		
VI.	Recommendations		
Annexes			
I.	List of members of the Group of Governmental Experts		
II.	List of documents		



Foreword by the Secretary-General

Today's complex geopolitical context, rapid technological developments and the expanding use of outer space are increasing risks in this vital yet fragile domain.

A growing number of State and non-State actors operate in outer space, deploying ever more satellites. These systems provide essential services to all nations and are critical to achieving the Statishinkle Development Golsa A. He same time, any amed conflict originating in or extending to outer space could have catastrophic consequences for life on Earth. Every State, therefore, has an interest in pursuing a stable, secure, safe and sustainable outer space environment.

The present report provides a non-chaustive set of potential clements for an international legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, including measures in prevent the placement of weapons in outer space. These contractions of the prevention of the prevention of the placement of the prevention of the

I recommend the present report to all Member States and to the public to encourage everyone to fully consider its insights for future deliberations on the nevention of an arms race in outer space.

4/27

24-1712



Letter of transmittal

23 August 2024 I have the honour to submit herewith the report of the Group of Governmental

Experts on Further Practical Measures for the Prevention of an Arms Race in Outer Space, established pursuant to General Assembly resolution 77/250. The report was adouted by consensus on 16 Auroust 707.

The members of the Group included governmental experts nominated by the following Member States: Australia, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, Cuba, Egypt, France, Germany, Fugary, India; mur Islaime, Republic of), Israel, Japan, Mooccoo, Angele Chile, China, Chile, Chile,

The report was prepared from November 2023 to August 2024, during which period the Group of Governmental Experts held two sessions in Geneva, from 20 November to 1 December 2023 and from 5 to 16 August 2024, As mandated by the General Assembly, the Clair of the Group convended at wo-day open-ended

use vancers assembly, the Claim of the Group convinced a two-say open-shedd interessional information consultative meeting, from 29 Petwary to 1 March 2024 at United Nations Hendquarters in New York, so that all Member States could engage in Claim Control of the Claim Control of the Claim Control of the Claim Control of the Claim Control for Group provided by the Chair in his own capacity. That meeting also included engagement with the broader outer space community, including representatives of civil society.

In accordance with resolution 77/250, the Group considered substantial elements of an international legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, including, inter alia, on the prevention of the placement of weapons in outer space, and made recommendations on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, and made recommendations on the prevention of an arms race in outer space.

The Group recommended: that the Secretary-General make the present report available to all Member States, tolky Conference on Disamament[1 on up body or process calabilisted pursuant to a decision of the General Assembly and to the public; that Member States fully examine the report and consider its contents in any future deliberations or aegotiations on the prevention of an arms race in outer space; and further consideration of vidualitatic General of an arms race in outer space; and printer consideration of vidualitatic General of an arms race in outer space; and printer consideration of vidualitatic General of an arms race in outer space; and printer consideration of vidualitatic General of an arms race in outer space; and printer consideration of vidualitatic General of an arms race in outer space; and printer consideration of vidualitatic General of a second or special consideration of a printer outer of the consideration of a second or special consideration of a printer outer of the consideration of a second or special consideration of a printer outer special consideration of a printer outer of the consideration of a printer outer outer of the consideration of a printer outer outer of a printer outer outer

of measures on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, taking into account appropriate, processes initiated by Assembly resolutions 78/20 and 78/238.

On behalf of the members of the Group, I wish to express appreciation for the support of the officials of the Office for Disarmament Affairs who assisted the Gridheld Spies, Ariana Smith and Eunsong Choi, as well as for the contribution

(Signed) Bassem Hassan hair of the Group of Governmental Experts on Further Practical Measures for the Prevention of an Arms Race in Outer Space



Interesting Facts

During these sessions, the experts examined several key issues. They looked at the growing ability of states to use space for both peaceful and potentially military purposes. for example, satellites used for communications, navigation, and surveillance that could also be used in ways that might threaten security. The Group reviewed the current legal and policy framework, including the Outer Space Treaty and related UN resolutions, to see whether existing rules are strong enough to prevent an arms race in space. They also discussed possible elements of a new legally binding agreement. including how to define space weapons, how to verify compliance, and how countries could build trust and share information. Some proposals even raised the question of space altogether.



The Conference on Disarmament (CD) is the UR's primary multilateral disarmament negotiation forum, established in 1979 as a members organized into regional groups, it operates by consensus and maintains a permanent agenda covering nuclear appearance of the properties of the consensus and maintains are permanent agenda covering nuclear arms. The CD has successfully negotiated major treaties, including the NPT, Chemical Weapons Convention, and Comprehensive Test Ban Treaty, reporting annually to the UN

as a consultant to the Group.



instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, including, inter alia, on the prevention of the placement of weapons in outer space, and further consideration of measures on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, taking into account, as appropriate, processes initiated by Assembly resolutions 78/20 and 78/238.

On behalf of the members of the Group, I wish to express appreciation for the support of the officials of the Office for Disarmament Affairs who assisted the Groun. Michael Spies Ariana Smith and Funsona Choi, as well as for the contribution of Sarah Erickson of the United Nations Institute for Disarmament Research, who served

> (Signed) Bassem Hassan Chair of the Group of Governmental Experts on Further Practical Measures for the Prevention of an Arms Race in Outer Space



Interesting Facts

working group to discuss responsible behavior in outer space. This group was asked to consider both legally binding measures. such as possible treaties, and political commitments, such as voluntary quidelines or transparency measures. The idea is to allow progress even if agreement on a treaty

group with a stronger mandate. Its job is to begin negotiations on a legally binding treaty to prevent an arms race in outer space. This effort builds on the 2023 Group of Governmental Experts' discussions and links of preventing an arms race in outer space (PAROS) for decades but has not yet reached consensus on starting formal treaty talks.

I Introduction

1. In resolution 77/250, on further practical measures for the prevention of an arms race in outer space, the General Assembly requested the Secretary-General to establish a United Nations Group of Governmental Experts, with a membership of up to 25 Member States, chosen on the basis of fair and equitable geographical representation, to consider and make recommendations on substantial elements of an international legally hinding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, including, interalia, on the prevention of the placement of weapons in outer space. The Assembly decided that the newly established Group of Governmental Experts would operate by consensus, without prejudice to national positions in future negotiations, and hold two 2-week sessions in Geneva, one in 2023 and the other in 2024, and requested the Secretary-General to transmit the report of the Group of Governmental Experts to the Assembly at its seventy-ninth session and to the Conference on Disarmament prior to its 2025 session.

II. Organizational matters

- 2. In accordance with the terms of the resolution, the Secretary-General appointed a Group of Governmental Experts from the following Member States: Australia, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, Cuba, Egypt, France, Germany, Hungary, India, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Israel, Japan, Morocco, Pakistan, Philippines, Republic of Korea, Russian Federation, South Africa, Sweden, United Arab Emirates, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and United States of America. In accordance with resolution 77/250 and, taking into account resolution 65/69, the Secretary-General established the Group on the basis of fair and equitable geographical distribution and with a view to achieving the equitable and effective representation of women and men. A total of nine Member States nominated women to participate as experts in the work of the Group. The list of experts is contained in annex I to the present report.
- 3. The Group met in two sessions at the United Nations Office at Geneva, the first from 20 November to 1 December 2023 and the second from 5 to 16 August 2024. Prior to its first session, the Group benefited from an informal virtual preparatory meeting, which was convened on 10 October 2023 by the Office for Disarmament Affairs and the United Nations Institute for Disarmament Research (UNIDIR) in coordination with the Chair-designate of the Group. At its first session, the Group elected Bassem Hassan (Egypt) as its Chair.
- 4. Michael Spies, Ariana Smith and Eunsong Choi of the Office for Disarmament Affairs served as the secretariat of the Group. Sarah Erickson of UNIDIR served as consultant to the Group
- 5. In accordance with resolution 77/250, the Chair of the Group convened a twoday onen-ended intersessional informal consultative meeting, from 29 February to 1 March 2024 at United Nations Headquarters in New York, so that all Member States could engage in interactive discussions and share their views on the basis of a report on the work of the Group provided by the Chair in his own capacity. I That meeting also included engagement with the broader outer space community, including representatives of civil society.



Interesting Facts

Resolution 78/20 set up an open-ended working group to discuss responsible behavior in outer space. This group was asked to consider both legally binding measures, such as possible treaties and political commitments, such as voluntary guidelines or transparency measures. The idea is to allow progress even if agreement on a treaty proves difficult.

Resolution 78/238 created a second working group with a stronger mandate. Its job is to begin negotiations on a legally binding treaty to prevent an arms race in outer space. This effort builds on the 2023 Group of Governmental Experts' discussions and links to the long-running work of the Conference on Disarmament, which has debated the issue of preventing an arms race in outer space (PAROS) for decades but has not yet reached consensus on starting formal treaty talks.



Interesting Facts

The United Nations Institute for Disarmament Research (UNIDIR) is an independent research body within the UN. It provides studies. practical ideas, and policy advice to support disarmament and arms control. UNIDIR also creates spaces for governments and experts to exchange views on security challenges. it works to reduce the risk of military competition in outer space through research and dialogue.

The Group benefited from two rounds of virtual informal consultations convened by the Chair on 8 May 2024 and on 10 July 2024, at which it discussed

[:] Materials from that meeting are available on the website of the Office for Disarmament Affairs at https://meetings.unoda.org/



proposed elements for the report of the Group. The Group also benefited from a virtual informal workshop organized by UNIDIR and the Office for Disarmament Affairs on "The characterization and verification of weapons in space and other cambilities that can nose a threat to space systems". beld on 22 and 23 May 2024.

7. During its accision in Genera, the Group received heefings by Guillerma de Aquier Particult Guall. Chiar of the 2011-150 group of paymental experts on Burker persicul measures for the prevention of an arm are in noter space, and by Coura Shard Chinical Arch Eminsters), Chair of the Committee on the Perscribt Uses of Oner's Space. The Group size benefited from precentations by representatives of Court Space. The Group size benefited from precentations by Personalization of Court Space. The Group Size benefited from precentations by Personalization of Court Space and Court Space. The Group Size benefited from precentations are still adopted and precent from the Court for International Security, the Timeline Visional Records Institute of World Economy and International Ecologies. Brassian Academy of Sciences. The Group also benefited from precentations, a study of 5's working and the Court of the Co

inputs from Member States, international organizations and non-governmental organizations. 2 The list of working papers submitted by the members of the Group, as well as other written inputs that it received are listed in annex II to the present report.

5. In accordance with resolution 77/259, the Group considered substantial clements of an international legality binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, including, inter alia, on the prevention of the placement of weapons in outer space ("substantial clements on the prevention of an arms race in outer space") and made recommendations on the prevention of an arms race in outer space. At its 36th meeting, on 16 August 2024, the Group adopted its final report.

III. General considerations and key conceptual issues pertaining to substantial elements of a legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, including, inter alia, on the prevention of placement of weapons in outer space

3. The Group recalled previous efforts within the United Nations on outer spaces executive, including the group of governmental experts established by General Assembly resolution 55/88, the group of governmental experts established working group established by Assembly resolution 72/289, the Disamament Commission, the open-ended working group established by Assembly resolution 76/231, the Conference on Disamament and the First Committer. The Group cought to report the mandates of relevant United Nations bodies and recognized the interrelationship between issues related to outer spaces executive, safety and sustainability.

10. The Group considered that is report could serve as a reference document for further measures and appropriate international negotiations on an international legally binding instrument to an armound a report of the international legally binding instrument or instruments on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, including, internal six, on the prevention of the placement of weopons in outer space, including six of the placement of which is not involved to the could contribute to future work on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, and confidence from these works of the prevention of an arms race in outer space, and consideration of the prevention of a mars may be in outer space, and consideration of the prevention of a mars may be in outer space, and in outer space, and in the prevent report and that the considerations, conclusions and the prevention of an arms are done in the prevent report and that the considerations, conclusions and the prevention of the preventio

Working papers made publicly available by Group members and written inputs from non-members are available at https://meetissu.usoda.org/.

recommendations in the report are not intended to prejudge any future negotiations or agreements and are without prejudice to national positions.

A. Evolving nature of outer space activities, threats and related capabilities

- The Group noted that its work was taking place in a difficult geopolitical environment that creates greater mistrust and increases the risk of misperceptions and miscalculations, which has significant implications for international security
- The use of outer space has changed significantly over the past several decades. The space security environment is no longer solely tied to the dynamics of competition between two super Powers. An increasing number of State and non-State actors operate in outer space with more and more satellites providing a growing range of benefits and essential services. Space services are increasingly being integrated into various aspects of essential services to all States and peoples, such as communications, energy, transportation, finance, emergency and humanitarian operations, as well as into defence and national security. Space science and technology and their applications, including satellite communications, Earth observation systems and satellite navigation technologies, provide indispensable tools for sustainable development. Therefore, every State has an interest in pursuing a stable, secure, safe and sustainable outer space environment, and the interests of all States should be taken into account in the elaboration of measures for the prevention of an arms race in outer space in all its aspects.
- The Group noted that the elaboration of substantial elements on the prevention of an arms race in outer space should be based on a comprehensive understanding of threats in the context of outer space. The Group also noted that the perception of threats may differ among States

Interesting Facts

ground-based weapons could escalate tensions, leading to security dilemmas where defensive measures (such as ASAT) by one nation are perceived as threats by others. spurring further militarization.

Did You Know That

In 2024, global government expenditure for space programs hit a record of approximately 135 billion U.S. dollars. The United States Government spent around 79.7 billion U.S. dollars on its space programs in that year, making it the country with the highest space expenditure in the world. The U.S. was followed by China, with government expenditure on space programs of over 19 billion U.S. dollars.

Something to Think About

Countries with large military space programs often worry about hostile attacks on satellites, anti-satellite weapons, or interference with command systems. They see the potential for conflict as the biggest risk. In contrast, countries that mainly use space for civilian purposes (like communication, weather, or navigation) may see the main threats as being disruptions to services not necessarily direct military attacks. Developing countries often worry more about being left out of access to space technology or suffering the fallout (like space debris) from conflicts between major powers.

Can you think of other differences in the perception of threats in the context of outer

The percention of different threats is why reaching global agreement on rules for outer space is so difficult.

- recommendations in the report are not intended to prejudge any future negotiations
- A. Evolving nature of outer space activities, threats and
 - The Group noted that its work was taking place in a difficult geopolitical environment that creates greater mistrust and increases the risk of misperceptions and
 - 12. The use of outer space has changed significantly over the past several decade The space account; precisional is no longer shoply title to the dynamic and maximize the space account precision heteron two upon Power. An increasing mashed of State and some State of competition heteron two upon Power. As increasing mashed of State and special contribution of the State and special contribution of the State and special, which is not become support of exactly and extreme the state State and special, which is not support to the state of the State and special, which is not as the different and installed exactly. Space science and tachnology and their exploration, including autilitie communications. Each tacknowledge and their exploration, including autilities communications. Each tacknowledge and their exploration, including autilities communications. Each tacknowledge and their explorations, including autilities communications. Each tacknowledge and their explorations in contribution of the state of the precedent of the state of the
 - 1.1. In curoup noted that the elaboration of substantial elements on the prevention of an arms race in outer space should be based on a comprehensive understanding of hreats in the context of outer space. The Group also noted that the perception of hreats may differ among States.
 - 14. The Group considered all vectors of threats relating to space systems and the broadest possible range of practical measures relevant for the prevention of an arms race in outer space in all fit aspects. But increasing users of threats or involving the property of the property of

Evolution of United Nations efforts for the prevention of an arms race in outer space in all its aspects

- 15. The Group discussed how developments relating to the evolving nature of outer space activities and space threats have influenced efforts to address the pervention of an arms nee in outer space. The Group recalled that the goal of the prevention of an arms need no enter space as in relating each in 1978 during the first special session of the General Assembly devoted to disammanent and that, in its fluid document, the negative state of the General Assembly devoted to disammanent and that, in its fluid document, the negative state of the General Assembly devoted to disammanent and that, in its fluid document, the negative state of the General Assembly devoted to disammanent and that, in its fluid document, the negative state of the General Assembly devoted to disammanent and that, in its fluid document, the negative state of the General Assembly devoted to disammanent and that, in its fluid document, the negative state of the General Assembly devoted to disammanent and that, in its fluid document, the negative state of the General Assembly devoted to disammanent and that, in its fluid special season of the General Assembly devoted to disammanent and that, in its fluid special season in 1974 darks and that, in its fluid special season in 1974 darks and that, in its fluid special season in 1974 darks and the good of the General Assembly devoted that the good of the General Assembly devoted that the good of the General Assembly devoted the good of the General Assembly devoted that the good of the General Assembly devoted the g
- 16. The General Assembly adopted two resolutions in relation to the prevention of an arms race in outer space in 1981. Through resolution 36/99, the Assembly proposed "to take effective steps, by concluding an appropriate international treaty, to prevent



Did You Know That

New technologies are creating new risks to space security. Satellites and space systems can be disrupted by cyberattacks that interfere with software, communications, or control from the ground. Directed energy weapons (DEWs), such as lasers or could temporarily permanently damage satellites. Small satellites can approach other satellites closely and may block sensors, iam communications, or even collide with or tamper with them. These technologies are developing faster than current laws and rules can handle, which increases the risk to satellites critical space systems, and international cooperation. These emerging threats highlight the urgent need for updated rules and agreements.



Definition

"kinetic," weapons refer to systems that physically destroy their targest through direct impact or explosions " such as anti-satellite (ASAT) missiles or weapons that can result in the creation of vast fields of debris from the the creation of vast fields of debris from the construction of the construction of the construction of a danger to other space objects because they can generate harmful space debris. In contrast, "non-kinetic" weapons diable or clienty to space assets without causing physical distructs passe assets without causing physical distructs, signal jamming, directed energy attacks, signal jamming, directed energy puckes (EMPs) tracetion satellites and other pouckes (EMPs) tracetion satellites and other products and the satellites of the products and the satellites of products of of pro

In the context of space disarmament,

space-based systems.



the spread of the arms race to outer space," and through resolution 1807 C, It proposed the consideration is a matter of priority (off) the question of segonitating an effective and verifiable agreement to probable anti-satellite systems." The Assembly subsequently adopted various resolutions relating to the prevention of a man race in outer space, which have included, inter alia, decisions to establish groups of governmental experts and open-carded working groups, by it recolations 4557 B, 6588, 72239, 76231,

- 17. The Conference on Disarmament first took up the matter of the prevention of an arms race in outer upace in 1982 and first established as all hoc committee on this time in 1981. In 2003, Chans and the Resists Federation introduced the distriction on the prevention of the placement of weapons in outer space and the threat or use of discourage of the placement of the placement
- 18. The Diarmanents Commission, at in 2018, 2022 and 2023 recisions, considered the agenda time entitled "Preparation of recommendations to promote the practical implementation of <u>Presupersecy and confidence suiffeet neutron</u> is usuary in outer space activities with the good of preventing an arm acts in outer space; a precordance with the recommendations set out in the report of the Group of Governmental Experts on decordance with the recommendations set out in the report of the Group of Governmental Experts on decordance with the recommendations set out in the report of the Group of Governmental Experts on decordance with the commendation of the control of the commendation of the commendation of the control of the control of the commendation of the control of the commendation of the control of the co
- The Group recalled the relevant reports of the Secretary-General relating to the prevention of an arms race in outer space.

Existing normative and legal framework

- 20. The Group affirmed the applicability of international law to outer space, including the Charter of the United Nations and relevant outer space and arms control treaties to
- 21. The Group considered the Treaty on Principles Governing the Activities of States in the Exploration and Use of Outer Space, including the Moon and Oth Celestial Bodies ("Outer Space Treaty") and all its principles and obligations as foundation of international space law and the key framework governing space activities. The Group affirmed the importance of the Treaty to the remotation of the Control of the States of
- must seek strict compliance with and the universalization of the Outer Space Treaty.

 2.7. To Compliance with and the universalization of the Outer Space Treaty.
- coorman for building trust and for the prevention of an arms race in outer sp 23. There were diverging views among experts on discussing international
- international humanitarian law applies to other space and regulates the activities of all parties with their respective obligations in armed conflict, including State and anno State actors, and any evintomenter, and that discussing an extreming it in our properties the use of force in violation of international law. Other experts affirmed that it is not appropriate to discuss international laws and thus in the context of the prevention of ann race in outer space or the outer space domain and that space cartifization of the proposition of the contraction of the prevention of the proposition of the prevention of the proposition of the
- 24. The Group discussed the possible role of the principle and obligation on due

17 Interesting Facts

The China-Russia Draft Treaty on the Prevention of the Placement of Weapons in Outer Space and of the Threat or Use of Force against Outer Space Objects (PPWT) was the proposed in 2008 and updated in 2014. It aims to ban putting weapons in orbit adm using or threatening force against satellites and using or threatening force against satellites and other space objects.

However, the United States and its allies have criticized the draft. They point out that it does not cover ground-based anti-satellite (ASAT) weapons, has no system to check compiliance, and uses unclear terms such as "weapons in space" and "use of force."

This disagreement reflects strategic differences. The United States has strong space-based capabilities, while China and Russia focus on ground-based ASAT systems. Each side wants to limit the areas where the other has an advantage.



Transparency and Confidence Building Mechanisms (TEMM) are a set of voluntary, non-legally binding measures designed to increase openness, foster trust, and reduce the risk of misperception, miscalculation, and escalation among States regarding their outer space activities. The goal of TEMM in PAROS is to create a more stable and predictable space environment, even in the arms control treats channels, (seally binding arms control treats).

POMINI INNIVOG

he spend of the arms seen to outer space", and through resolution 1637 C, it proposes the consideration "and a matter of priority (of the equention of negatiating as efficient for exceeding the expension of negatiating as efficient particular state of the processing of the expension of the processing of the Assembly subsequent temporary of the processing of the processi

- 17. Inc. Contretion on Districtions that there is no the matter of the prevention of most seen is not seen in 1972 and their cutabilistics and above committee on this most seen in outer and produce the control of the control of
- 18. The Disarmament Commission, at the 2018, 2022 and 2023 sessions, considered the agends time entitled "Preparation of recommendations to promote the practical implementation of transparency and confidence-building measures in outer space activities with the goal of prevention gas arms race in outer space, in accordance with the recommendations set out in the report of the Group of Governmental Experts or Transparency and Confidence-Disling Measures in Control Space Activities" and
- 19. The Group recalled the relevant reports of the Secretary-General relating to the

C. Existing normative and legal framework

- 20. The Group affirmed the applicability of international law to outer space, including the Charter of the United Nations and relevant outer space and arms control treaties to which States are party.
- 21. The Group considered the Fresty on Frinciples Governing the Activities of Mastes in the Exploration and Use of Outer Space, including the Moon and Offser Celestial Bodies ("Outer Space Treaty") and all its principles and obligations as a foundation of international space has onal the key framework governing space activities. The Group affirmed the importance of the Treaty to the prevention of an extensive and the Conference of the Co
- The Group agreed that compliance with applicable existing international law is essential for building trust and for the prevention of an arms race in outer space.
- 2. There were diverging views among expects on discousing international humanitarias has in the context of outer spec. Some expects affirmed international humanitarias has applies to outer space and regulates the activities of most of the control of the prevention of arm rate in outer space or the outer space domina and that any control of the control of the prevention of arm rate in outer space or the outer space domina and that any control of the control of the prevention of arm rate in outer space of the outer space domina and that any control of the control of the prevention of arm rate in outer space of the outer space domina and that any control of the control of the control of the control of the prevention of arm rate in outer space of the outer space domina and that any control of the control o
- The Group discussed the possible role of the principle and obligation on due regard as set forth in article IX of the Outer Space Treaty, in the prevention of an arms

21 Interesting Facts

The Outer Space Treaty (OST) is a foundational piece of international law governing activities in space. It was adopted in 1967 and has been ratified by over 100 countries. Its core nicipales include:

- Non-appropriation: Outer space, including the Moon and other celestial bodies, cannot be claimed as sovereign
- territory by any nation.

 Peaceful purposes: Space should be used for the benefit and in the interests of all countries. The Moon and other celestial bodies are to be used exclusively for
- peaceful purposes.

 No weapons of mass destruction: The treaty explicitly prohibits placing nuclear weapons or other weapons or mass destruction in orbit or on celestial bodies.

 Liability. Nations are internationally liable for damage caused by their space objects.

21 Interesting Facts

Article IV of the Outer Space Treaty prohibits States Parties from placing nuclear weapons or other weapons of mass destruction in Earth orbit, on celestial bodies, or anywhere else in outer space. It also bans the establishment of military bases, weapons testing, and military maneuvers on the Moon and other celestial bodies. However, it allows the use of military personnel and equipment the use of military personnel and equipment research and employation. race in outer space. Application of the sample of accessful call help States to would miscalcalized and misinterpretation, avoid activative late could executed tensions and undermine security and stability and foster engagement between States. The Group discussed the possibility that the application of the principle of the regular could be clarified, including through further discussions in the Committee on the Percentil Uses of User Space and other extensi bodies, as appointing, and could be taken into consideration when discussing further measures related to the percentil or an immune tere in outer space; and building in the engolistics of a fighly binding an immune tere in outer space; and building in the engolistics of a fighly binding an immune tere in outer space; and building in the engolistics of a fighly binding and miss need to outer space; and building in the engolistics of a fighly binding the space of the space.

- 25. The Group affirmed that the existing normative and legal framework on outer space plays a significant role in preventing a man men in our supers but does not manually a significant role in preventing a man men are understood and the fave it a need to assume the angelenter that regime and enhance its effectiveness and that it is important to comply strictly with existing agreements, both bilateral and multilateral. The Group recalled the necessity of further measures with appropriate and effective provisions for verification to prevent an arms race in outer space, including on the wateralization of outer space.
- D. Approaches to further measures for the prevention of an arm
 - 26. The Group discussed the possible interrelationships and distinctions betwee legally binding instruments and non-legally binding measurements.
 - 77. The Group recalled that negotiations for the conclusion of an international
 - of the Conference on Disarmament. 5 The Group further recalled that measures lesigned to strengthen transparency, confidence and security in the peaceful uses of outer space, are without prejudice to efforts towards the conclusion of an effective and verifiable multilateral agreement or agreements on the prevention of an arms race no outer space. As
 - 28. The Group also recalled that the group of governmental experts established pursuant to General Assembly resolution 65/68 had endorsed efforts to pursue political commitments, for example declaration regarding the peaceful use of outer space, noting that such commitments could form the basis for the consideration of
 - 29. The Group discussed but did not seek a common understanding on the concept of responsible behaviour in the context of outer source.
 - "see a spew re-smit that the prevention of an areas see in outer speer replies:
 written from our fearnesses, including legisly histoling measures and now heighty
 bending measures. More expecte operated the tree that the hist legisly and now legisly
 bending measures. More expecte operated the tree that the histoling and now legisly
 bending measures. Some of the see a speece of the season of the see and the present all a speece or an expectation of the season of the see and the season of the legisly bending measures. Some of those reports sorted also that international non-legisly bending
 case obtain a legisly bending of these a the season of the season



The principle of due regard, established in Article IX of the Outer Space Treaty, requires States to consider the right and interests of other States when conducting space activities. Although not explicitly defined in the treaty. Although not explicitly defined in the treaty harmfully interfere with others' poaceful use of outer space. This includes consulting with other States before and during activities that may cause such interference.



What are the main obstacles to creating strong and effective verification measures for space arms control agreements? And how do the unique characteristics of the space environment and space objects (e.g., dual use environment and space objects (e.g., dual use verification, such as inspections or monitoring, much harder to apply in space? And if a satellite is damaged, Jammed, or interfered with, would it be difficult to determine who is responsible? If so, why

Resolution 78/19, para. 3.



nex in outer space. Application of the principle of the regard could help States to visible misculations and ministrepretation, avoid activities that could exceeding exceeding a superior of the country of the country of the country of the country of the less of the country of the country of the population of the principle of the regarded to the country of the sould be clarified, including through further discussions in the Committee on the country of t

2.5 The Group affirmed that the existing normative and tegal flamework on outer space plays a significant role in preventing a serior near to under space but does not guarantee the prevention of an arms race in outer space, and that there is a need to consolidate and enablest the frequency and what it is a substantial to the production of the produc

D. Approaches to further measures for the prevention of an arms race in outer space

- The Group discussed the possible interrelationships and distinctions between legally binding instruments and non-legally binding measures.
- 27. The Group recalled that negotiations for the conclusion of an international agreement or agreements to prevent an arms race in outer space remains a priority task of the Conference on Disamment. The Group further recalled that measures closelinged to attempted nansparency, confidence and security in the peaceful uses of outer space, are without perjoduce to efforts towards the conclusion of an effective outer place, are without perjoduce to efforts towards the conclusion of an effective management of the prevention of an arms race in contraption of the prevention of an arms race in outer space. On
- 28. The Group also recalled that the group of governmental experts established pursuant to General Assembly resolution 65/68 had endorsed efforts to pursue political commitments, for example declarations regarding the peaceful use of outer space, noting that such commitments could form the basis for the consideration of concerns and processals for leavelly binding obligations.
- The Group discussed but did not seek a common understanding on the concept of responsible behaviour in the context of outer space.
- 10. Some experies resulted that the prevention of an arms not not one perceptive vision forms of memory, including legally belong measures and non-legally binding measures. Some expense expense expense of the view that both legally and non-legally binding districts can consider the legal and the result of an arms are legally and the legal and the

Ibid., para. 7.



Interesting Facts

The UM does not directly make treaties legally binding. It facilitates the trasty-making process and adopts the final draft text via resolution, but the resolution adopting the country to list terms. The treaty only becomes legally binding after it has been independently ratified by a sufficient number of member states through their domestic legal processes. Member states must treatly for its obligations to apply to them.



When we talk about non-legally binding measures in the PAROS context, what is the process by which "soft laws" that are not legally enforceable, can develop into binding obligations? How can the development of customary international law and the principle of good faith shape state behavior over time?

Resolution 78/19, para. 3. Ibid., preambular para. 17.



contribute to, but not substitute for, a legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space. Some of those experts considered also that non-legally binding measures should be aimed at increasing outer space safety, sustainability and security and, especially, at the prevention of an arms race in outer space and the conclusion of an international legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space.

- 31. The Group recalled that the group of governmental experts established pursuant to General Assembly resolution 65/68 endorsed efforts to pursue political commitments, for example, in the form of unlitateral declarations, bilateral commitments or a multilateral code of conduct, to encourage responsible actions in,
- and the peaceful use of, outer space.

 The Group considered that any possible measures would need to avoid adversely impacting the national security, technological, economic or development interests of
- impacting the national security, technological, economic or development interests of States.

 33. Without orciudice to the substance of existing proposals, a proposal was made
- for the States parties to the Outer Space Treaty to consider one or more additional optional protocols to the Treaty. It was noted that the Treaty lacks any provision for such a protocol and that not all States participate in the Treaty.

IV. Consideration of substantial elements of an international legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, including, inter alia, on the prevention of the placement of weapons in outer space

A. General considerations including definitions and verification

3.4. The Group agreed that the provisions of a legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arm race in outer gapes should be practical, clean, scientifically and technically accurate, tailored to the specific objective of the measure under consideration and non-discriminary; consistent with existing international law; and not adversely impact the national security, technological, economic or development interests of its Stutes parties.

Definitions

26. The Group offerend the capacitate of federing a common understanding in Exp. in granted the Ringersteins of a same near to noting section 18 mergets, as Bitcould impact the copy and implementation of any proceeding elementer. An international algeby binding internation on the prevention of a same size on outer page would require legally binding internation on the prevention of a same size on outer page would require previously agreed terms as appropriate. Explicit definitions might be required, especially in the above of the relational common understanding on the underlying concept. The Group also considered that definitions in existing ministrate legal instruments on outer formation of the control of the proper should be seen of the create featile. The Croup discount ground terms on which

sought and considered that specific terms that require definition or understanding would depend on the objectives and measures of instruments.7

34 Something to Think About

In what way could outer space disarmament initiatives affect the national security, technological, economic, or development interests of States, and how can such efforts be balanced with the need to promote international peace and prevent an arms race in space?

35 Interesting Facts

Countries disagree on how to define key terms for preventing an arms race in outer space. These include what counts as a weapon in outer space" (whether it only means weapons placed in orbit or also ground-based anti-satellite systems), what is meant by "peaceful purposes" (whether all military uses are banned or only aggressive ones) what actions qualify as a "threat or use cyber interference), which "space objects" should be protected (all satellites or only certain ones), and what "responsible behavior" looks like (such as keeping safe distances or avoiding debris). These disagreements reflect deeper strategic differences about what activities should be restricted What are these strategic differences and how do they feed into the disagreements over the way terms are defined? These disagreements reflect deeper strategic divides. For countries with advanced space systems. like the United States and its allies, satellites are central to military operations and economic life and keeping rules narrow protects their ability to develop non-destructive counterspace tools such as cyberwarfare, and even future missile defense systems. Russia and China, by contrast, push for broader bans on weapons in space, which would limit U.S. innovation in these areas while leaving their own ground-based anti-satellite programs untouched. In short, each side seeks rules that protect its strengths and constrain the other's



- 36. The Group considered that any definitions included should ideally be the minimum number of terms required for such an instrument to function effectively. Any definitions should be practical, clear, scientifically and technically accurate and tailored to the specific objectives and provisions of the instrument. Definitions should provide clarity to the provisions of an instrument, facilitate compliance and be crafted to avoid legal uncertainty. The elaboration of definitions should also take into account multilinevalism.
- 37. The Group discussed, in particular, whether States should attempt to elaborate a definition for infrastructure in the context of outer space as a first step towards its special protection. In this discussion, a concern was raised that establishing special protection for a certain category of space objects could imply that other categories of space objects could be legitimate or lawful targets or undermine legal certainty by introducing reinterpretation of international law.

Verification

- 38. The Group recalled that, in the final document of the first special session of the General Assembly devoted to disarmament, the Assembly emphasized that disarmament and arms limitation agreements should provide for adequate measures of verification satisfactory to all parties concerned in order to create the necessary confidence and ensure that they are being observed by all parties.8 The Group recognized the necessity of including measures for verification as an integral part of substantial elements of an international legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, and that such measures should be considered at every stage of the negotiating process.
- 39. The Group considered that methods, procedures and techniques related to verification should be able to provide, in a timely, effective and efficient fashion. credible evidence of compliance or non-compliance with the provisions of a legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space. The Group noted that the development of verification measures should be without prejudice to the national security, sustainable development, technological, economic or development interests of its States parties.
- 40. The Group considered whether a layered or packaged approach towards verification could be pursued, depending on the nature of the measure. Experts presented various and different suggestions on what methods could form such an approach, including, inter alia, national technical means, monitoring systems, on-site pre- and post-launch inspections, routine inspections, ground and space-based sensors for space situational awareness, data exchanges and declarations, consultative and dispute settlement mechanisms as well as post facto observations of suspected

Something to Think About

When the Group talks about defining "infrastructure" in outer space, they mean deciding which kinds of satellites or space systems count as critical infrastructure that deserve special protection - for example provide communications, navigation (like GPS), or early-warning of missile launches. The idea is that harming these systems could have huge consequences for international security and civilian life

But there's a problem: if you single out some satellites as specially protected, that could send the signal that all other satellites are fair game in a conflict. It could also muddy existing international law, which already says that force against another State's assets is restricted under the UN Charter. So the debate is: should you create a clear, narrow category of "infrastructure" for extra protection, or would that actually weaken the overall legal shield for all space objects? The definition matters because it decides choosing only some may risk undermining the protection of others.

How can states define and protect outer space "infrastructure" without undermining existing international law?



Definition

Space Situational Awareness (SSA) means knowing what is happening in space. It includes tracking satellites, space debris, and other objects in orbit as well as the ability to predict their future behavior in order to monitor risks like collisions or disruptions of satellites or space systems. SSA helps countries

Resolution \$-10/2, para, 31.

¹ The Group did not seek to agree on any specific definitions for the terms contained in the present report. Various experts suggested non-exhaustive lists of terms which partially overlapped on which definitions may be sought, including: behaviour of space objects; counterspace capabilities; critical infrastructure: convert: damage: denial: destroy: disruption of normal functioning: dual-use: dual-purpose; harmful interference to outer space objects; lowering of effectiveness; military use of outer space; renderyous operations; proximity operations; safe separation; safe trajectory; space weapon; space safety risks; threat or use of force against outer space objects; threat or use of force



violations. The Group considered that potential verification measures should be clearly tied to specific obligations.

- 4.1. The Group discussed the importance of space intuntional awareness as a mean for characterizing or working the activities and and behaviours of agree doptient. The Group noted documents and discussions in the Committee on the Proceed'd Uses of the Committee on the Proceed's Committee on the P
- 42. The Group recognized that further consideration would be required, inter alia, on the technical aspects of verification in relation to substantial elements on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, as verification of the characteristics of adject placed in outer space and verification of activities of space objects could involve challenges. The Group acknowledged that the elaboration of verification encasses would the time and require engagement by technical, military and legal measures would then and require engagement by technical, military and legal forms of the contraction of
- 43. In particular, verification of factors yet may be challenging owing to their inherent characteristics and might involve monitoring their actual use unter than only assexing their characteristics, which may provide options for certain types of the contraction of the contraction of the contraction of their contractions, which may be contracted by the contraction of their contractions of t
- 44. With a view to addressing the relevant challenges related to defining weapons placed in outer space and verifying the characteristics of space systems, a possible option was presented for a possible framework intended to faultitude analysis of the relationship between threats, characteristics, definitions and verification of threats emanating from any vector. Other experts presented other possible options for how the commentation of the property of the contraction of the contract

B. Substantial elements on the prevention of an arms race in outer space

45. Consistent with its mendact, the Group considered the following non-channite we for possible outbrailed clement that could be taken into account in further measures and appropriate international augmentation, including in a legally binding instrument on an appropriate international augmentation, including in a legally binding instrument on, inter all, all appears of these proposed clements and concluded that further discussions are needed in order to further examine, develop and refine these and discussions are needed in order to further examine, and the contraction of the following the substantial clement, the thresh and the associated issues related to definitions and verification. The considerations in this miscontain tissues related to definitions and verification. The considerations in this work program of the contraction of

43 Definition

Dual-use space technology refers to space systems, satellites, or equipment that can be used for both civilian purposes (like communication, seather monitoring, or communication, seather monitoring, or communication, seather monitoring, or counterspace operations). Because these technologies serve both peaceful and security-related roles, and can be operated by both civilian and military entitles, it is harder to clearly define what it as vacpon and set rules for what it all allowed in

Elements on principles and objectives

- A possible element could reaffirm the relevance to the prevention of an arms race in outer space of principles and obligations contained in the Outer Space Trea They include, inter alia, that:
- (a) The exploration and use of outer space, including the Moon and other celestial bodies, shall be carried out for the benefit and in the interests of all countries irrespective of their degree of economic or scientific development, and shall be the province of all humankind:
- (b) Outer space, including the Moon and other celestial bodies, is not subject to national appropriation by claim of sovereignty, by means of use or occupation, or by any other means;
- (c) States parties to the Treaty shall carry on activities in the exploration and use of outer space, including the Moon and other celestial bodies, in accordance with international law, including the Charter of the United Nations, in the interest of maintaining international peace and security and promoting international cooperation and understanding
- (d) States parties to the Treaty undertake not to place in orbit around the earth any objects carrying nuclear weapons or any other kinds of weapons of mass destruction, install such weapons on celestial bodies, or station such weapons in outer space in any other manner;
- (e) The Moon and other celestial bodies shall be used by all States parties to the Treaty exclusively for peaceful purposes. The establishment of military bases, installations and fortifications, the testing of any type of weapons and the conduct of military manoeuvres on celestial bodies shall be forbidden; (f) States parties to the Treaty shall bear international responsibility for
- national activities in outer space, including the Moon and other celestial bodies. whether such activities are carried on by governmental agencies or by non-governmental entities, and for assuring that national activities are carried out in conformity with the provisions set forth in the Treaty. The activities of non-governmental entities in outer space, including the Moon and other celestial bodies, shall require authorization and continuing supervision by the appropriate State party to the Treaty:
- (g) Each State party to the Treaty that launches or procures the launching of an object into outer space, including the Moon and other celestial bodies, and each State party from whose territory or facility an object is launched, is internationally liable for damage to another State party to the Treaty or to its natural or juridical persons by such object or its component parts on the earth, in airspace or in outer space, including the Moon and other celestial bodies;
- (h) In the exploration and use of outer space, including the Moon and other celestial bodies, States parties to the Treaty shall be guided by the principle of cooperation and mutual assistance and shall conduct all their activities in outer space. including the Moon and other celestial bodies, with due regard to the corresponding interests of all other States parties to the Treaty;
- (i) If a State party to the Treaty has reason to believe that an activity or experiment planned by it or its nationals in outer space, including the Moon and other celestial hadies, would cause notentially harmful interference with activities of other States parties in the peaceful exploration and use of outer space, including the Moon and other celestial bodies, it shall undertake appropriate international consultations before proceeding with any such activity or experiment.





Over 110 countries have ratified the Outer Space Treaty making it one of the most widely accepted international agreements governing space activities.



Something to Think About

Under the Outer Space Treaty, countries are responsible for all space activities conducted from their territory or by their citizens. whether carried out by government agencies or private companies. States must authorize continuously supervise governmental entities to ensure their activities follow the Treaty's rules. This responsibility covers not only Earth orbit but also the Moon and other celestial bodies. It means that countries must create national laws and regulatory frameworks to oversee private space actors, manage liability for accidents, and ensure all space activities are safe and lawful. With the rise of private space companies like SpaceX and Blue Origin, how can regulatory frameworks strike a balance between ensuring that private companies follow the Outer Space Treaty while also fostering innovation and attracting private

investment in the space sector?



- 47. A possible element could reaffirm that flature measures on the prevention of an arms race in outer space should be consistent with provisions contained in the Charter of the United Nations, including, inter alia, those concerning:
- (a) The prohibition of the threat or use of force against the territorial integrity or political independence of any state, or in any other manner inconsistent with the Purposes of the United Nations:
 - (b) The settlement of international disputes by peaceful means in such a
- manner that international peace and security, and justice, are not endangered;

 (c) The inherent right of individual and collective self-defence if an armed
- attack occurs against a Member of the United Nations;

 (d) The precedence of the Charter of the United Nations, in the event of a
- conflict between the obligations of the Members of the United Nations under the Charter and their obligations under any other international agreement.
- A possible element could reaffirm principles and objectives contained in existing arms limitation and disarmament agreements, including, inter alia;
 - (a) The right to develop, access and use technology for peaceful purposes;
- Implementation of instruments in a manner to avoid hampering the economic or technological development of States;
 - (c) The need for adequate and effective verification;

(d) Non-discrimination;

(e) The objective of general and complete disarmament.

49. The Group recognized that further work is needed to determine the possible impact of threats to prace systems on sustainable development. The Group noted that a possible element should have the objective of ensuring equal opportunities for women and men to enable their meaningful engagement in efforts to schieve the prevention of an arms race in outer space. Some experts expressed the view that any future instrument should now dusting gender-ceturosive terms, aim at garden equality and be informed by diverse perspective, and that further work is needed to determine the possible offerentiated in agrees of threats to propage years on workshop and the propagation of the propagation of the possible offerentiated in pages of threats of pages experts on when the propagation of the

- 50. The Group discussed the following elements and concluded that these element
- in obligations required further discussions to identify areas of convergence.

 1. The Group discussed whether possible elements in this section should be limited o addressing "intentional" acts, without seeking any common understanding on this
- 52. The Group recalled that a possible element should include the obligations and
- 53. A possible element could include a provision on the threat or use of force agains space objects, without prejudice to the provisions of the Charter of the United Nations
 - A possible element could include a provision on the use of space objects as a

48d Something to Think About

What is the principle of "non-discrimination" in the context of PAROS'! How can it be effectively implemented in outer space disarrament frameworks, given the substantial disparities between nations in their current space capabilities! How can we ensure that rules for space activities or arms imitations that apply is independent imitations that apply is independent disproportionately limit the access of developing countries to space technology?



Women and girk often face greater risk during disasters due to pre-existing disparities in information, mobility, and decision-making power, as noted by <u>UN Women</u>. The loss of space-based services like disaster monitoring and communication infrastructure would



- 47. A possible element could reaffirm that future measures on the prevention of arms race in outer space should be consistent with provisions contained in the Char
 - (a) The prohibition of the threat or use of force against the territorial integrity or political independence of any state, or in any other manner inconsistent with the
 - (b) The settlement of international disputes by peaceful means in such a
 - (c) The inherent right of individual and collective self-defence if an armed sek occurs against a Member of the United Nations;
- (d) The precedence of the Charter of the United Nations, in the event of a conflict between the obligations of the Members of the United Nations under the
- Charter and their obligations under any other international agreement.

 48. A possible element could reaffirm principles and objectives contained in
 - isting arms limitation and disarmament agreements, including, inter alia:
 - (b) Implementation of instruments in a manner to avoid hampering to
 - omic or technological development of States;
 - (c) The need for adequate and effective verification
 - (e) The objective of general and complete disarmamer

49. The Group recognized that further work is needed to determine the possible impact of threats to gover express on suntainable development. The Group noted the possible element should have the objective of emaining equal opportunities for wors and men to enable their emaningful engagement in effects in subset the prevention as arms rare in outer space. Some experts expected the view that any future instituted whether the expectation of the expert of the expert of the expert of the expert of the expectation terms, that any future instituted whether the expert of the expectation terms, that a goal dream of the expert of t

Elements on obligations

- 50. The Group discussed the following elements and concluded that these elements
- on obligations required further discussions to identify areas of convergence.

 51. The Group discussed whether possible elements in this section should be limited to addressing "intentional" acts, without seeking any common understanding on this
- Threat or use of force
- 52. The Group recalled that a possible element should include the obligations and principles enshrined in the Charter of the United Nations.
- A possible element could include a provision on the threat or use of force against space objects, without prejudice to the provisions of the Charter of the United Nations
- and without expanding or detracting from their meaning.

 54. A possible element could include a provision on the use of space objects as a means of a threat or use of force, including to destroy any targets on Earth or in outer

53 Definition

including:

The prohibition on the threat or use of force originates from Article 2(4) of the UN Charter which states:

"All Members shall refrain in their international relations from the threat or use of force against the territorial integrity or political independence of any state, or in any other manner inconsistent with the purposes of the United Nations."

This article establishes a general ban on aggressive acts between States, making both actual attacks and threats of attacks illegal under international law.

Specifically, "the threat or use of force" covers any action that could harm, destroy, or intimidate other countries or their assets.

 Kinetic attacks: physically striking satellites or other space objects.
 Electronic or cyber interference: disrupting

satellites' operations or communications.

- Threats to act: statements, demonstrations, or maneuvers signaling an intention to harm or destroy space assets.

There are two recognized exceptions to this general prohibition:
- Self-defense under Article 51 if a country is

attacked.

- Actions authorized by the UN Security Council to maintain or restore international peace and security.

space, without prejudice to the provisions of the Charter of the United Nations and without expanding or detracting from their meaning.

Hattentional acts/ acts that damage or destroy space systems

- A possible element could include specific prohibitions relating to acts that damage or destroy space systems, such as:
- (a) Intentional acts / acts against space objects under the jurisdiction or control of another State without its consent that could result in their destruction or
- (b) Intentional acts / acts that damage or destroy terrestrial infrastructure used to control space objects, including command and control or space surveillance systems, by any means, including through malicious use of information and communications technologies.

Acts that can disrupt or interfere with the safe operation or normal functioning of space objects

 A possible element of a legally binding instrument could include provisions obliging States to refrain from:

- (a) Intentional acts / acts that cause harmful interference with space objects under the jurisdiction or control of another State without its consent, especially with certain outer space activities that pose a particular risk of escalation, that disrupt neaceful space activities or that create space safety risks:
- (b) Intentional acts / acts that disrupt the normal functioning or after the trajectory of space objects under the jurisdiction or control of another State without its consent, including physical connection to space objects under the jurisdiction and control of another State, without appropriate consultation and/or consent;
 (c) Interspinal acts / acts that cause the destruction of some objects in a
- manner that creates space flight safety risks, including through the use of counterspace capabilities, such as free-fracescustual-statellite misuites? 57. A possible element could also contain obligations relating to the safe conduct of operations with the objective of preventing misunderstandings, miscalculations and unintended escalations, such as, inter alia, requirements to ensure, to the greatest extent feasible and practicable, that space objects do not
- (a) Operate in proximity to space objects under the jurisdiction and control of another State without the provision of anotheristic notification of the operation:
- (b) Cause safety risks to spaceflight, including by not maintaining necessary safe separation from other space objects;
- 58. The Group discussed the challenges relating to measures based on "proximity" "space safety risks" and "safe separation" and verifying obligations related to these

Protection of space-based services to civilians

59 A possible element could include provisions for the protection of space inflantanciare which provides reviewe to civilians, including provisions oblighing States particle and non-State active to avoid activities against such infrastructure that generate collateral impacts on civilian activity, especially over large areas. In this regard, some experts gove the following excumples: disruption of air traffic, emergency services or global navigation satellite zervices.



Direct sounds and settless (IA-ASAT) missing settless and settless through collisions of the hydrolly destroy satellites through collisions generaling thousands of hazardous debrir fragments in space. The first ASAT text to set the settless of the settle



This passage refers to the difficulty of monitoring and enforcing certain space safety or arms control measures. These measures rely on the physical positions and movements of space objects, which are often hard to observe and verify from the ground. Here's what the terms mean in this context:

- "Proximity" How close two space objects (e.g., satellites or spacecraft) are to each other. Some rules might limit how near they can operate to prevent collisions or threatening maneuvers.
- "Space safety risks" The potential dangers that space objects pose to one another, such as collisions, debris generation, or interference with
- "Safe separation" Maintaining a minimum distance or buffer between space objects to reduce the chance of accidents or misinterpretation of intent (for example, avoiding situations where a satellite might appear to be threatening another).

The challenge is that verifying compliance with these measures is difficult: you need accurate tracking data, transparency from all operators, and international cooperation to confirm that objects are keeping proper distances and not creating unsafe situations.





space, without prejudice to the provisions of the Charter of the United Nations and without expanding or detracting from their meaning.

- A possible element could include specific prohibitions relating to acts that
 - (a) Intentional acts / acts against space objects under the jurisdiction or outrol of another State without its consent that could result in their destruction or
 - (b) Intentional acts / acts that damage or destroy terrestrial infrastructure uses to control space objects, including command and control or space surveillance systems, by any means, including through malicious use of information and

Acts that can disrupt or interfere with the safe operation or normal functioning of space objects

56. A possible element of a legally binding instrument could include provisions

- (a) Intentional acts / acts that cause harmful interference with space objects inder the jurisdiction or control of another State without its consent, especially with certain outer space activities that pose a particular risk of escalation, that disrupt peaceful space activities or that create space safety risks;
- (b) Intentional acts / acts that disrupt the normal functioning or after the ajectory of space objects under the jurisdiction or control of another State with a consent, including physical connection to space objects under the jurisdiction a north of another State, without appropriate connection and/or concent.
- (e) Intentional acts / acts that cause the destruction of space objects in a manner that creates space flight safety risks, including through the use of counterspace capabilities, such as direct-ascent anti-satellite missiles.

 Output

 Description:
- 57. A possible element could also contain obligations relating to the safe conduct of operations with the objective of preventing misunderstandings, miscalculations and unintended escalations, such as, inter alia, requirements to ensure, to the greatest extent feasible and practicable, that space objects do not:
- (a) Operate in proximity to space objects under the jurisdiction and control cother State without the provision of appropriate notification of the operation;
- 58. The Group discussed the challenges relating to measures based on "proximity "space safety risks" and "safe separation" and verifying obligations related to these measures.
- 59. A possible element could include provisions for the motion of space influentation of the country of the

Did You Know That

The militarization of space threaters these critical space-based services to chillians putting at risk both global cooperation and humanity's ability to benefit from the peaceful uses of space. In addition to the the services mentioned in this paragraph, other civilian services that could be affected include:

- Telecommunications and internet services
 disrupting mobile phone networks,
- Weather forecasting and climate monitoring - interfering with satellites that provide early warnings for storms.
- floods, or wildfires.

 Financial services affecting timing signals used for banking, stock trading, and
- payment systems.

 Maritime navigation disrupting shipping
- routes that rely on GNSS or other satellite signals.

 Disaster response coordination - affecting

satellite-based communications used in humanitarian relief.

Energy grids and infrastructure management - some power grids rely on satellite data for monitoring and coordination.



Jamming and spoofing are major threats to Global Navigation Satellite Systems (GNS) like GPS, Galileo, GLONASS, and Bellou. Jamming refers to unauthorized transmissions of signals at the same frequency as authorized services, often to evade tracking or for security or defence purposes. Spoofing involves fake signals mimicking authorized services, potentially misleading and endanneerins of his or aircraft.

167

......



Placement of weapons in outer space

60. A possible element could include obligations not to place weapons in outer space, including those designed to attack outer space systems or objects, or Earth-

used targets. The Group discussed relevant challenges and possible options

monestance with neutring a weapon in outer space and verifying such obligations.

Research, development, testing, stockpiling and deployment of systems designed for the use in intentional acts / acts that damage or destroy space systems, as well as their elimination.

5.1 A nossible element could include provision

(a) Prohibiting research, development, testing, stockpiling and deployment years designed for acts that damage or destroy space systems, including destructive firect-ascern acts ascellite missistle, including counterspace testing activities that mpair the safe operation of satellites, while taking into account the national security obtained social recognition of sectionment interests of States.

- (b) Prohibiting destructive testing of direct-ascent anti-satellite missile
- (c) Providing for the elimination of such systems that States already posses provided that such systems are prohibited by the legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space.

National space policies, doctrines and strategies and other measures that coul-

- 52. Taking into account the relevant agreed recommendations of the Committee or Peaceful Uses of Outer Space, the Group also discussed possible other measures the could to the greatest extent feasible and practicable reduce the risk of escalation
- (b) To operate their space objects in a manner that maintains safe separat from other space objects and plan trajectories that avoid introducing spaceflight satsister for other space objects.
- (c) To refrain from any tests, experiments or other intentional acts / acts that
- (d) To communicate and make notifications to enhance stability, safety an astainability of outer space activities and to resolve concerns about internation.
- (c) To provide appropriate notification of manocuves expected to impact space systems and services in order to reduce the risk of misunderstanding or the content of t
- To promote policies, strategies or doctrines related to outer space aimed at improving transparency, avoiding misunderstanding regarding States' goals and keeping outer space fee from military confrontation.

Assistance and encouragement in certain acts 63. A possible element could include strovisions that obligate States to refrain from assisting, encouraging or inducing any state, intergovernmental organization, entity, or anyone located on their territory or under their jurisdiction or control, in the conduct of any acts prohibited by the normonoment.

60 Interesting Facts

- If Member States were to agree that weapons should not be placed in outer space, verification of compliance with this rule would depend on how space weapons are defined. There are several key difficulties in getting Member States to agree on a definition of a space weapon:
 - Dual-use technologies Many satellites and space systems can serve both civilian and military purposes. For example, a satellite used for Earth observation or communications could also be used for military intelligence or targeting. Countries disagree on whether these
 - should count as weapons.

 2. Ground-based vs. space-based systems Some countries, like the U.S., focus on
 limiting space-based weapons but
 maintain ground-based anti-satellite
 (ASAT) systems. Others, like Russia and
 China, emphasize banning ground-based
 systems too. This creates disagreement
 over which systems fall under the
 - definition.

 3.Types of threats There are different ways to interfere with space assets: kinetic attacks, jamming, cyberattacks, or directed energy. States disagree about which of these constitute a "weapon."
 - Strategic interests Each country wants rules that protect its own strengths while limiting others. Advanced space powers may prefer a narrow preserve freedom of countries with more ground-based capabilities may push for a broader
 - 5.Verification challenges Without a definition of a space weapon that all countries agree on, verification of compliance with rules on the use of these weapons would be impossible or at the very least would lead to disputes on how to intercret the rules.

based targets. The Group discussed relevant challenges and possible options associated with defining a weapon in outer space and verifying such obligations.

Research, development, testing, stockpiling and deployment of systems designed for the use in intentional acts / acts that damage or destroy space systems, as well as their elimination

51. A possible element could include provisions:

(a) Prohibiting research, development, testing, stockpiling and deployment of systems designed for acts that damage or destroy space systems, including destructive direct-ascent anti-satellite missiles, including counterspace testing activities that impair the safe operation of satellites, while taking into account the national security, technological, commic or development interests of States;

(b) Providing for the elimination of such systems that States already possess, provided that such systems are prohibited by the legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space.

National space policies, doctrines and strategies and other measures that could reduce the risk of escalation, conflict and an arms race in outer space

- 52. Taking into account the relevant agreed recommendations of the Committee of Peaceful Uses of Outer Space, the Group also discussed possible other measures through to the greatest extent feasible and practicable reduce the risk of escalation.
- ould to the greatest extent feasible and practicable reduce the risk of esculation, onflict and an arms race in outer space, including such as:

 (a) To operate in, from, to, and through space in a safe and sustainable manner;
- om other space objects and plan trajectories that avoid introducing spaceflight sa sks for other space objects;
- esult in satellite break-ups or the intentional destruction of space objects;

 (d) To communicate and make notifications to enhance stability, safety and
- reace and security that arise from the conduct of outer space activities;
 (e) To provide appropriate notification of manoeuvres expected to impact
- (f) To promote policies, strategies or doctrines related to outer space aimed at improving transparency, avoiding misunderstanding regarding States' goals and keeping outer space free from military confrontation;

Assurtance and encouragement in certain acts 63. A possible element could include provisions that obligate States to refrain from assisting, encouraging or inducing any State, intergovernmental organization, entity, or anyone located on their territory or under their jurisdiction or control, in the conduct of any acts prohibited by the instrument.



In April 2024, the U.S. and Japan proposed a Wil-Security Count resultain Sci002/d021 to reaffirm the 1967 Outer Space Treaty's ban on weapons of mass destruction (WMDs) in space, prompted by intelligence that Bussia was developing an anti-satellite weapon system involving a nuclear device. China and seeking to prohibit: "all types of weapons" in outer space, not just WMDs. The China-Bussia amendment falled with seew votes in favor, seven against, and one abstemtion the original U.S. Japan resolution.

61b Did You Know That

In December 2022, the UN General Assembly adopted resolution 77/81 calling upon countries to commit not to conduct destructive direct-ascent anti-astellite missile tests. This followed U.S. Vice President Kamala Harris's April 2022 announcement of America's voluntary commitment to the ASAT test ban. As of October 2023, 37 countries have made similar commitments, including all European Union Member States.



Placement of weapons in outer spi

60. A possible element could include obligations not to place weapons in outer pace, including those designed to attack outer space systems or objects, or Earth used targets. The Group discussed relevant challenges and possible options

Research, development, testing, stockpiling and deployment of systems designed for the use in intentional acts / acts that damage or destroy space systems, as well as their elimination

51. A possible element could include provision

(a) Prohibiting research, development, testing, stockpilling and deployment of systems designed for acts that damage or destroy space systems, including destructive direct-ascent and-satellite missiles, including counterspace testing activities that impair the safe operation of satellities, while taking into account the national security technological, excommic or development interpret of Structure 1997.

- (c) Providing for the elimination of such systems that States already po
- prevention of an arms race in outer space.

National space policies, doctrines and strategies and other measures that coul reduce the risk of escalation, conflict and an arms race in outer space

- 52. Taking into account the relevant agreed recommendations of the Committee on Peaceful Uses of Outer Space, the Group also discussed possible other measures that could to the greatest extent feasible and practicable reduce the risk of escalation,
- cousus or une greatest extent tesisthe and practicable reduce the risk of escalation, conflict and an arms race in outer space, including such as:

 (a) To operate in, from, to, and through space in a safe and sustainable manner;

 (b) To onerate their space objects in a manner that maintains safe senaration
- from other space objects and plan trajectories that avoid introducing spaceflight safety risks for other space objects;

 (c) To refrain from any tests, experiments or other intentional acts / acts that
- result in satellite break-ups or the intentional destruction of space objects;

 (d) To communicate and make notifications to enhance stability, safety and sustainability of outer space activities and to resolve concerns about international
- sustainability of outer space activities and to resolve concerns about internation peace and security that arise from the conduct of outer space activities;

 (c) To provide appropriate notification of manocurves expected to impact space systems and services in order to reduce the risk of misunderstanding or
- (f) To promote policies, strategies or doctrines related to outer space aimed at improving transparency, avoiding misunderstanding regarding States' goals and keeping outer space free from military confrontation;

Assistance and encouragement in certain acts 63. A possible element could include provisions that obligate States to refrain from assisting, encouraging or inducing any State, intergovernmental organization, entity, or anyone located on their territory or under their jurisdiction or control, in the conduct of any acts prohibited by the

62c Interesting Facts

Arts that result in satellite breakups or the destruction of space objects can lead to a catastrophic event in space. In 1978 NASA scientist Donald Kessler described what is now known as the Kessler Syndrome - a theoretical scenario where space debris that collides with satellites or other debris, can break into more fragments and trigger a chain reaction of further collisions. Low Earth Orbit satellites are seen as being the most vulnerable satellites to the damaging effects of a cascading chain reaction due to the high density of satellites in this region of outer space. If this were to occur, LEO could be rendered unusable for satellites, threatening space-based services communication, navigation, and Earth observation.

A chain reaction of collisions creating more debris can, in theory, occur in other high-risk orbital areas as well, such as Geosynchronous Orbit (GSO).

62e Something to Think About

The risk of misunderstanding or misperception in outer space is closely tied to transparency and concerns about national security and proprietary technologies.

On one hand, greater transparency can build trust and reduce the chance that other countries see an action as hostile when it is not. For example, a satellite moving close to another might be seen as preparing for interference, even if it is only testing sensor. Clear communication and data-sharing could avoid such misinterpretations.

On the other hand, countries are often reluctant to be fully transparent. They worry that revealing too much about their space systems might expose military vulnerabilities or give away commercial secrets. How can states balance the need for transparency in space maneuvers with concerns over national security or the protection of proprietary technologies?

24-17129

17/27

National implementatio

64. A possible element could include provisions requiring States, in accordance with their constitutional procedures, to take necessary measures to ensure compliance with the provisions of the instrument, including by any entities under their jurisdiction or

Elements on transparency and confidence-building measures

- 65. The Group resulted the consensus that exists within the United Nations on the importance of transparency and conditioner-childing measures as a means of residencing the objective of preventing an arms race in outer space and need for States to review, as appropriate, implement and report, to the greatest extent persiculoids, the proposed transparency and confidence-building measures contained in the 2013 report of the Group of Governmental Experts or transparency and confidence-building residence of the Group of Governmental Experts or transparency and confidence-building
- 56. Transpurency and confidence-building measures can, as appropriate, be an integral element of a legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arm race in outer space. Such measures can be designed to facilitate, inter alla, the resolution of disquires related to the implementation of an instrument. They could also be aimed to enhancing space security and sustainability. The Group also noted that, when pupilicable, transpurency and confidence-building measures can be designed to apply to both State and non-State actors.
 7. The Group recalled that transportance and confidence-building measures for
- outer space activities could also complement and contribute to, but not substitute for, an international legally brinding instrument on the prevention of an arm race in outer space, as stated in the 2023 report of the Disarmanent Commission ?

 St. The Group cealed that voluntary transpearery and confidence-building measures, considered as complementary measures, could contribute to the
- prevention of an arms race in outer space, as well as verification protocols included in legally binding international instruments. 10

 59. In this connection, the Group discussed possible elements on transparency and confidence-building measures, including from the 2013 report of the group of governmental experts and recalled in the 2023 report of the Disarmament Commission, that could contribute to the consideration of substantial elements on the
- prevention of an arms race in outer space, giving due consideration to national security considerations:

 (a) Exchanges of information on the principles and goals of a State's outer space policy!11
- (b) Exchanges of information on major military outer space expenditure and other national security space activities;
- (c) Exchanges of information on orbital parameters of outer space objects and potential orbital conjunctions;

26-1712



The UN Standardized Instrument for Reporting Military Expenditures later renamed UN Report on Military Expenditures later renamed UN Report on Military Expenditures for States to share information regarding their annual military expenditures are induced in this contract space spenditures are induced in the military expenditure used by the Stockholm contraction of the State State State and spending on which explicitly states that all spending on international Paces Research institute (SPRI) which explicitly states that all spending on expenditure. The Report alms to increase transparency, build confidence and unimately. Indicates a reduction of military unimately in the spending of the spending

18/27

POMINALINARY?

¹ A/78/42, para, 12,

³⁰ Ibid., para. 12.
³¹ Ibid., para. 12.
³² In this context, some experts expressed the view that the United Nations Institute for Disarrament Research (UNIDIR) Space Security Portal is a useful sool to improve the transparency of States' and other organizations' policies related to space security. Other experts expressed the view that the Same Security Portal is an initiative used the lode reconsolidity of

- Exchanges of information on forecast natural hazards in outer space;
- (e) Notification of planned spacecraft launches:
- (f) Notifications on scheduled manoeuvres that may result in risk to the flight safety of other space objects;
 - Notifications and monitoring of uncontrolled high-risk re-entry events;
 - Notifications in the case of emergency situations:
 - Notifications of intentional orbital break-ups;
- - (k) Expert visits, including visits to space launch sites, invitation of international observers to launch sites, flight command and control centres and other operations facilities of outer space infrastructure;
 - (I) Demonstrations of rocket and space technologies. 70. The Group discussed possible further elaboration of transparency and confidence-building measures, including whether and how to provide routine communication and notifications of military activities in space; establish emergency channels to facilitate the resolution of crises; and establish points of contact to facilitate communication and reduce misunderstandings

Elements on consultative mechanisms and settlement of disputes

- 71. The Group discussed how possible elements of a legally binding instrument could address consultative mechanisms or the resolution of disputes. States could also expand current existing consultative procedures or mechanisms and, in the case where existing procedures or mechanisms may not be considered sufficient to address concerns related to outer space to establish them on a bilateral basis.

69i Interesting Facts

Apart from notifications there are several collaborative efforts the international

community could pursue to mitigate the risk They could agree on rules for how satellites should be handled at the end of their missions, set common standards to limit the creation of debris, and support new technologies like systems that can remove debris or satellites that can safely take themselves apart. These steps would make space use safer and more sustainable for



everyone.

Definition

Voluntary Familiarization Visits are when one nation willingly invites another's military or diplomatic representatives to observe its capabilities, activities, or facilities. These visits aim to foster mutual understanding, dispel concerns, and reduce the risk of miscalculation, thereby enhancing trust and regional stability. They are not mandated by treaties but are proactive confidence-building measures

wfuna 🕢

- All Problems of the Committee of Committee o
- (a) Mariffernian of alamanian account from the con-
- (e) Notification of planned spacecraft launches.
- (f) Notifications on scheduled manoeuvres that may result in risk to the flight fety of other space objects:
- (g) Notifications and monitoring of uncontrolled high-risk re
- (h) Notifications in the case of emergency situation
- (i) Notifications of intentional orbital break-ups;
- (j) Voluntary familiarization visits:
- (k) Expert visits, including visits to space launch sites, invitation of
- operations facilities of outer space infrastructure;
- 70. The Group discussed possible further elaboration of transparency and confidence-building measures, including whether and how to provide routine communication and notifications of military activities in space; establish emerg channels to facilitate the resolution of crises; and establish points of contact to

Elements on consultative mechanisms and settlement of disput

71. The Group discussed how possible elements of a legally binding instrument sould address consultative mechanisms or the resolution of disputes. States could also expand current existing consultative procedures or mechanism and, in the case where existing procedures or mechanisms may not be considered sufficient to address onecema related to outer state; the extrability them, on a hitsmet beautiful.

Elements on international cooperation

- Possible elements on international cooperation, taking into account the narticular needs of developing countries, could include:
- (a) A reaffirmation that outer space, including the Moon and other celestial bodies, shall be free for exploration and use by all States without discrimination of any kind, on a basis of equality and in accordance with international law, and there shall be free access to all areas of celestial bodies.
- (b) An undertaking for States to facilitate, and have the right to participate in, the fullest possible exchange of equipment, materials and scientific and technological information for the peaceful exploration and use of outer space on a mutually acceptable basis 12 and in conformity with international obligations:
- (e) A provision for States with significant space technologies to consider international cooperation on a mutually acceptable basis, such as providing assistance and training and Hamsferring Icelanology, data and material to requesting States for the equitable and mutual benefit of, and taking into account the legitimate rights and interest of, all parties concerned.
- 73. In addition, any possible measures included in a legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space should provide for implementation in a manner that avoids hampering economic development and the advancement of

72

Something to Think About

How can the international community ensure that space governance frameworks are not dominated by a few powerful actors, but instead provide equitable participation and safeguards for developing countries?



Did You Know That

NASA's Technology Transfer Program is a successful initiative which ensures that innovations from space exploration are spilled to benefit life on Earth. Mandated by law, it manages NASA's portfolio of paters; them accessible through licensing, partnerships, and open-source platforms. The program foster's spinoffs' commercial solutions that leverage NASA technologies to environmental sustainability.



technology for peaceful purposes, while protecting sensitive information for national security or commercial proprietary reasons.

Elements on other aspects

- 74. The Group briefly noted possible elements on institutional arrangements, including on the potential need for a dedicated secretariat or an implementation support unit as well as a review process of its implementation, with the understanding legal policies of the second policies of the process of the second policies of the process of the process through binding instrument on the prevention of an arms each on outer space. A legally binding instrument could provide for review of this implementation process through binding instrument could provide for review of this parties and the establishment of a second policies of the process of the proce
- 75. The Group also briefly noted possible requirements for the entry into force of a legaltly binding instrument. The Group discussed the necessity of participation by major space-firing nations, which would be essential for the effectiveness of such an instrument, bearing in mind the experience of instruments with specific criteria for their entry into force.

V. Conclusions

- 76. Given the depth of its exchanges, the work of the Group enabled a lotter inderstanding of the issue relating to the prevention of an arms are is outer space as well as consideration of substantial elements on the prevention of an arms noce a soute of the consideration of the state of the contraction. Over the course of its work, the Group gained a finder appreciation of the range of issues and identified area which could be considered in three negotiations. Whosh propulsed to suitable positions, the terference for States and as a useful resource for addressing the prevention of an arms race in outer space.
- 77. Taking into account Sections III and IV, the Group concluded that the present report could serve as a reference decument for further measures and appropriate international segoitations on an international legality binding instrument on the prevention of an arms racie in outer space. The Group also concluded that the report could contribute for internative of the placement of weapons in outer space. The Group also concluded that the report could contribute to future work on the prevention of an arm area in outer space, which was at the fertheroming open-ended working supervision was careful on the parameter of the placement of the placeme
- 78. Taking into account the content of sections III and IV, the Group agreed therefores and approaches to delayoute measures on the prevention of an arms rear outer space, including on capabilities, activities and behaviours, should continue to take into account the evolving space activities and threats. Measures that can contribute to the prevention of an arms race in outer space in all its aspects could relate to, inter also, the theat or use of fines against outer space objects, republishing of a small contribute of the prevention of a many race in outer space. The all its aspects could relate to, inter also, the theat or use of fines against outer space objects, republishing of arms of conflict into outer space, as well as measures and efforts to reduce the risk of resulting artists; and miscalculations.
- 79. The Group identified areas where further work could be undertaken by States, including, but not limited to:
- (a) Further developing definitions for a legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space in all its aspects;



(b) Further developing common understanding on threats in the context of outer space:

Further/consideration of effective arms control, limitation or prohibition measures that would contribute to the prevention of an arms race in outer space and their score:

- (d) Further study of the issue of verification;
- (e) Continuing discussions on proposals on other aspects, including institutional arrangements;
- (f) Further consideration of possible measures to strengthen international cooperation on the peaceful uses of outer space in the context of the prevention of an arms race in outer space;
- (g) Further elaboration of understandings on the principles of space law, such as peaceful purposes, due regard, continuing supervision and authorization and thut yto consult in the Outer Space Treaty, including on how these principles and duty to consult in the Outer Space Treaty, including on how these principles and contribute to the goal of the prevention of an arms race in outer space in all its aspects;
- (h) Further consideration to ensuring equal opportunities for women and men to enable their meaningful engagement in efforts to achieve the prevention of an arms race in outer space in all its aspects;
- Further encouragement and facilitation of engagement by civil society and commercial actors in efforts to achieve the prevention of an arms race in outer space in all its aspects:
- (j) Further implementation or elaboration of transparency and confidencebuilding measures without prejudice to the conclusion of a legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space.

VI Recommendations

- 80. The Group recommends that the Secretary-General should make the present report available to all Member States, to the Conference on Disarmament, to any body or process established pursuant to a decision of the General Assembly and to the nublic.
- The Group recommends that Member States fully examine the present report and consider its contents in any future deliberations or negotiations on the prevention of an arms race in outer space.
- 9.7. The Group recommends further consideration of substantial elements of an international legallybinding instrument on the prevention of an arm size in outer space, including, interalia, on the prevention of the placement of weapons in outer space, and further consideration of measures on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, takinginto account, as appropriate, processes initiated by General Assembly resolutions 7820 and 78228.

79d Something to Think About

While verification of space weapons demands cutting-edge technology and technical experise, arms control negotiations happen in inherently political settings. How can multilateral political dialogue contribute to advancing technical solutions, such as those required for verification of treaty compliance?



Women remain significantly underrepresented in the space sector, particularly in leadership roles. According to the landmark study on gender equality in the space sector conducted by UNOOSA, women make up only 30% of the workforce in public space sector organizations worldwide. This representation drops significantly at higher managerial roles, 21% of executive positions, and only 19% of board seats.

24-17126



List of members of the Group of Governmental Experts

Ruth Hill

Deputy Permanent Representative to the Conference on Disarmament

Brazil

Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade Cláudio Leopoldino

Counsellor, Head of the Disarmament and Sensitive Technologies Division Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Canada Ashlyn Milligan

Deputy Director, Space and Conventional Weapons Global Affairs Canada

Chile

FelineConsiño Ambassador, Director of International and Human Security

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

China LiangGuotao

Egypt

Director, Arms Control Department

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Ivonne Sánchez Quintero Lieutenant Colonel, Director

Centre for Studies on Disarmament and International Security of Cuba

Rassem Hassan Ambassador, Director, Department of Disarmament and Peaceful Uses of Nuclear Ministry of Foreign Affairs

France Pierre-Alain Voltz Expert, Space Affairs, Directorate of Strategic Affairs, Security and Disarmament

Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs of France Germany

FlorianSeitz Counsellor, Deputy Head of Division

Directorate-General for International Order, the United Nations and Arms Control Federal Foreign Office Hungary

Szilvia Balázs

Head of Unit, Disarmament and Non-proliferation, Export Control, and New Challenges, Department of Security Policy and Non-Proliferation Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade

India Anupam Ray

Ambassador, Permanent Representative of India to the Conference on Disarmament



Iran (Islamic Republic of)

Nassereddin Heidari(first session)

Ambassador and Permanent Representative to the Kingdom of Thailand and Permanent Representative to the United Nations Economic and Social Commission

for Asia and the Pacific and other United Nations agencies in Bangkok

Shahrokh Shakerian (second session)

Director of Cyber and Space Diplomacy Department Ministry of Forcian Affairs

Israel

Benjamin Sharoni Director of the Arms Control Department. Strategic Affairs Bureau

Ministry of Foreign Affairs Japan

IshiiYurika

Associate Professor, National Defense Academy Ministry of Defense

Morocco

Rafiq Akram (first session) Research Professor

Research Pakistan

Royal Center for Space Studies and Research

Pakistan

Rizwan Siddique Director, Arms Con

Director, Arms Control and Disarmament Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Philippines NoelleRizaCastillo

Director, Space Policy and International Cooperation Bureau Philippine Space Agency

Republic of Korea

ParkEun-jin (first session) Director of Disarmament and Non-proliferation Division

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Kim II-hoon (second session)
Deputy Permanent Representative to the Conference on Disarmament

Permanent Mission of the Republic of Korea Russian Federation

Konstantin V. Vorontsov Deputy Director. Department for Arms Control and Non-Proliferation

Ministry of Foreign Affairs Sweden Lenguan Sydow

Lenavon Sydow Deputy Director, Department for Disarmament, Non-Proliferation and Export

Ministry of Foreign Affairs South Africa

Zaheer Laher (first session) Chief Director, United Nations Political, Peace and Security

Department of International Relations and Cooperation



Shuaib Mahomed (second session)

Shuaib Mahomed (second session)

Acting Deputy Director, Nuclear Disarmament and Non-Proliferation, Department

of International Relations and Cooperation

UnitedArab Emirates Abdulla Ahmad Alshehhi

Head of Strategic Research United Arab Emirates Space Agency

Fatima AlShamsi (second session)

Fatima AlShamsi (second session)

Deputy Head of Space Policy and Regulations Department

Deputy Head of Space Policy and Re United Arab Emirates Space Agency

United KingdomofGreatBritainandNorthernIreland

Clive Hughes Head, Space Security and Advanced Threats

Head, Space Security and Advanced Threats Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office

UnitedStatesofAmerica Eric Desautels

Director, Office of Emerging Security Challenges, Bureau of Arms Control, Deterrence and Stability United States Department of State

24/27

wfuna 🐠

Annex II

List of documents

	Title
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.1	Working paper submitted by Felipe Cousiño Working paper
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.2	submitted by Yurika Ishii Current trends and developments in
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.3	outer space security, including vectors of threats, submitted by UNIDIR
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.4	Gender-based considerations for a legally binding instrument the prevention of an arms race in outer space (PAROS), submitted by Ashlyn Milligan
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.5	Possible substantive elements for a legally binding internation instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, i particular, on the prevention of the placement of weapons in outer space, submitted by Konstantin Vorontsov
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.6	Working paper for the agenda item on: Review of existing international law relevant to prevention of an arms race in our space, including, inter ali, on the prevention of placement of weapons in outer space, submitted by Noelle Riza Castillo
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.7	Review of the analyses submitted to the Conference on Disarmament of the 2014 Russian – PRC draft "treaty on the prevention of the placement of weapons in outer space, the th or use of force against outer space objects" (PPWT), submitte by Eric Desautels Proposals of the United States of America
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.8	regarding responsible State behaviour for outer space activities, submitted by Eric Desautels
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.9	Working paper submitted by Eric Desautels
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.10	Working paper submitted by Eric Desautels Working paper
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.11	submitted by Eric Desautels Security threats, counter-space
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.12	capabilities and irresponsible behaviours, submitted by Noelle Castillo and Florian Seitz
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.13	Working paper submitted by Nassereddin Heidari
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.14	Principles of international law relevant to the discussions of t Group of Governmental Experts submitted by Ashlyn Milliga
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.15	Verification of legally binding measures for the prevention of arms race in outer space (PAROS), submitted by Szilvia Balá Noelle Riza D. Castillo, Felipe Cousiño, Rath Hill, Clive Hughes, Ashlyn Milligan, Eun-Jin Park, Lena von Sydow, Pic Alain Voltz, Varika Ishli
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.16	Response to comments on the working paper on the principle Due Regard, submitted by Noelle Castillo



The U.S. and Russia-China disagreed sharply over the 2014 draft treaty on preventing weapons in outer space. The U.S. argued the treaty had serious flaws: it never defined clearly what counts as a "space weapon" given that many technologies can be used for both civilian and military purposes: it lacked any system to verify compliance; and it left loopholes by allowing states to keep researching, developing, and stockpiling space weapons as long as they weren't deployed in orbit. It also ignored groundbased anti-satellite weapons and repeated rules that were already part of existing space law. Finally, the U.S. pointed out that Russia and China themselves were continuing counterspace activities, which undercut trust in their proposal.



Document No.	Title
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.17	Preventing an arms race in outer space, submitted by Clive Hughes
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.18	The positive contribution of public space security doctrines, strategies and policies to prevention of an arms race in outer space, submitted by Florian Seitz, Szilvia Balázs, Lena von Sydow and Pierre-Alain Voltz
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.19	Working paper submitted by Lena von Sydow
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.20	A proposed framework for categorizing weapons placed in outer space, working paper submitted by Bassem Hassan
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.21	In all its aspects: further developing PAROS as a modern concept for addressing space security threats, submitted by Ruth Hill, Clive Hughes, Yurika Ishii, Ashlya Milligan, Eun-jin Park, Florian Seitz, Pierre-Alain Voltz
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.22	Proposal of considering optional additional protocol(s) to the Outer Space Treaty, submitted by Felipe Cousiño Principles and criteria related to adequate and effective
GE-PAROS/2023/WP.23	verification, submitted by Eric Desautels Draft agenda
GE-PAROS/2023/CRP.1	Indicative timetable
GE-PAROS/2023/CRP.2	Working paper submitted by Liang Guotao
GE-PAROS/2024/WP.1 GE-PAROS/2024/WP.2	Proposed draft structure for the report, submitted by Szilvia Balász, Clive Hughes, Florian Seitz, Pierre-Alain Voltz and Lena Von Sydow
GE-PAROS/2024/WP.3	Working paper submitted by Konstantin Voronstov, Possible substantive elements of a final report of the United Nations Group of Governmental Experts on the Prevention of an Arms Race in Outer Space Working paper submitted by the Kingdom of the Netherlands
GE-PAROS/2024/WP.4	Supporting a complementary approach to considering possible legally binding instruments to address the threat of conflict in
GE-PAROS/2024/WP.5	outer space, working paper submitted by New Zealand
	Working paper submitted by the United Kingdom on the prevention of an arms race in outer space
GE-PAROS/2024/WP.6 GE-PAROS/2024/WP.7	Incorporating transparency and confidence-building measures (TCBMs) into legal approaches to the prevention of an arms race in outer space (PAROS), submitted by Project Ploughshares
GE-PAROS/2024/WP.8	Potential pathways for concrete improvement of space security, submitted on behalf of the European Union and its member States
GE-PAROS/2024/WP.9	Working paper submitted by UNIDIR: Verification for Outer Space Security

26/27

24-17126



Document No.	Tink
GE-PAROS/2024/CRP.1	Report by the Chair of the Group of Governmental Experts on Further Practical Measures for the Prevention of an Arms Race in Outer Space
GE-PAROS/2024/CRP.2	Indicative timetable (week one)
GE-PAROS/2024/CRP.3	Revised proposed elements for the Report of the Group of Governmental Experts on Further Practical Measures for the Prevention of an Arms race in Outer Space (reissued for technical reasons)
GE-PAROS/2024/CRP.3/Rev.	Draft report of the Group of Governmental Experts on Further Practical Measures for the Prevention of an Arms Race in Outer Space
GE-PAROS/2024/CRP.3/Rev.	2 Revised draft report of the Group of Governmental Experts on Further Practical Measures for the Prevention of an Arms Race in Outer Space
GE-PAROS/2024/CRP.4	Report of the Group of Governmental Experts on Further Practical Measures for the Prevention of an Arms Race in Outer Space

24-17126

70 70

9999